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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

         P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	THOMAS D. WARD, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 
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COMPANY,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE CO.,
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DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200226119
AWCB Decision No.  06-0243

Filed with AWCB Juneau, Alaska

on September  5,  2006


On August 15, 2006, in Juneau, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee’s claim for temporary total disability and medical benefits, penalty, interest and attorney fees and costs.  Attorney Robert Rehbock represented the employee.  Attorney Paul Hoffman represented the employer and its workers’ compensation insurance carrier (“employer”).  Prior to taking evidence on the merits of this case, the parties presented arguments on several preliminary matters, including the employer’s petition to hold the record open to include the August 17, 2006 deposition testimony of the employer’s psychiatrist, Eric Goranson, M.D.  We heard this matter with a two-member panel, a quorum under 
AS 23.30.005(f).  The Board took the parties’ arguments under advisement and notified the parties we would issue an interlocutory decision and order prior to closing the record.  


ISSUES
Shall the Board hold the record open to receive the deposition testimony of Dr. Goranson, pursuant to AS 23.30.135(a)?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
The recitation of facts in this decision is limited to those necessary to determine whether the record shall be held open to receive the deposition testimony of Dr. Goranson.  The employee reported that due to repetitious bouncing in his seat while driving an underground dump truck on rough, his coccyx was injured when he worked as a miner for the employer.

I. Brief Medical History
The employee was seen by a number of physicians in an attempt to pinpoint the nature, cause and appropriate treatment of the pain in his coccyx.
  

Kim Smith, M.D., referred the employee to John Bursell, M.D.  Dr. Bursell prescribed pain medications, ordered a MRI
, which showed abnormalities in the employee’s coccyx, which Dr. Bursell thought was likely a fracture.  Dr. Bursell also made further referrals.
  

Ted Schwarting, M.D., an orthopedist, saw the employee upon referral, diagnosed coccyx fracture, non-union and indicated surgical excision may be necessary.
  

Dr. Smith referred the employee to William M. Palmer, M.D.  Dr. Palmer indicated the employee’s coccyx felt mis-formed or mis-aligned, despite a host of imaging studies that were unremarkable.  Dr. Palmer could not imagine anyone taking the amount of pain medication the employee took unless he was pain medication seeking or had some neuropathic problem.  Neither Dr. Palmer nor any other physician identified a neuropathic issue.

At the employer’s request, the employee was evaluated by Steven Schilperoort, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon.  He diagnosed a coccygeal bursitis invoked as a consequence of work exposure; exaggerated and disproportionate levels of pain for the objective findings and excessive narcotic use for the probable level of the employee’s pain.  Dr. Schilperoort recommended surgery and opined the employee would be medically stable three months thereafter, fully capable of returning to regular, unlimited duty work without restrictions.

Upon referral, the employee was seen by Jens R. Chapman, M.D., Professor of Orthopaedic Surgery and Sports Medicine.  Although Dr. Chapman did not provide a diagnosis, he reviewed the various treatment options for the employee’s coccyeal pain, including muscle stretching and strengthening, rectal massage, steroid injections and surgery, as a last resort.

The employee continued to see Dr. Bursell, who attempted to assist the employee to taper off the narcotics based upon Dr. Chapman’s recommendation.
  However, based upon the employee’s complaints of break through pain, Dr. Bursell abandoned attempts to taper the employee off narcotic medications and proceeded to prescribe additional narcotics.  Dr. Bursell followed the employee and added, adjusted or substituted medications.

At the employer’s request, Dr. Schilperoort reviewed additional records.  Based upon review of multiple coccygeal and sacral imaging studies, Dr. Schilperoort found that the proximal coccygeal segment had an unusual anterior angulation.  Additionally, he indicated there were irregularities at the sacrococcygeal articulation, which may be compatible with degenerative changes.
  Dr. Schilperoort diagnosed the employee with coccygeal bursitis based upon the August 18, 2003 MRI; however, he found, based upon the May 25 2004 MRI, there was no longer evidence of paracoccygeal swelling or fluid accumulation.
  As such, Dr. Schilperoort opined that as of May 25 2004, the coccygeal bursitis invoked as a consequence of work exposure was completely resolved.
  

Further, based upon his finding that the bursitis had resolved, Dr. Schilperoort opined that the employee was exhibiting drug seeking behavior in an effort to procure narcotics.  
Dr. Schilperoort opined that the imaging study of May 25, 2004 verified the resolution of any reasonable injury the employee may have incurred at work.  Dr. Schilperoort found evidence that the employee was malingering based on drug seeking behavior given the employee’s markedly excessive narcotic use.

The employee’s care was assumed by George Garfein, M.D., in October 2005.   At the same time, hew was treating with Marjorie Henderson, M.D., of the Central Washington Rehabilitation Clinic.  She assessed the employee with profound coccygeal pain.  Based upon a bone scan, Dr. Henderson found evidence of pars fracture at the L4 – 5 left posterior articulated facets.  She found this to be consistent with the employee’s history of fractures caused by his occupation.
  Dr. Henderson referred the employee to Dr. Milton Routt for evaluation for surgical treatment of coccydynia based upon Dr. Routt’s expertise with pelvic orthopedic surgery.
 

In February 2006, Second Independent Medical Evaluations (“SIME”) were conducted by 
John J. Lipon, M.D., Orthopedic Surgeon, and Bruce M. McCormack, M.D., Neurosurgeon.  

Dr. Lipon conducted a rectal examination which revealed the coccyx to be mobile at the sacrococcygeal level.  Dr. Lipon found a definite coccyx angulation anteriorly, consistent with the imaging studies.
  He found that the rectal examination elicited severe pain in the area of the coccyx and sacrococcygeal junction, although the latter was not rigid.

Dr. Lipon diagnosed coccygodynia which was either caused or aggravated by his occupational duties.  He indicated coccygodynia is a rare condition that accounts for less than one percent of all reported causes of lower back pain.  One etiology is falls resulting in direct injury to the sacrococcygeal synchondrosis.  According to Dr. Lipon, up to one-third of coccygodynia cases are idiopathic in nature; and a less common cause includes neuropathic pain secondary to repeated damage to the nerves, such as might occur in bike riders.  He noted that a bursitis-like condition can arise in slim patients who have little buttock fat padding, allowing the tip of the coccyx to rub against the subcutaneous tissues, thereby causing friction.

Dr. Lipon opined that the employee’s coccygodynia may have initially been idiopathic, but was definitely aggravated by his work activities of driving a back-fill truck over very rough and irregular roadways.  He indicated the repetitive trauma to the ligaments and muscles surrounding the coccyx resulted in inflammation of the tissues, causing pain and soreness from sitting or with straining during defecation.  Further, Dr. Lipon determined that the mechanism of injury was consistent with the employee’s clinical presentation and the medical records.  Dr. Lipon found the employee’s reaction when evaluated was consistent with pain behavior, but opined the reaction was not flagrant.

In examining the employee’s right hip complaints, Dr. Lipon found they were not corroborated by the imaging studies or the physical examination results.  He opined the employee’s right hip complaints were not related to the employee’s work injury.

Dr. Lipon indicated that the employee’s disability with regard to work limitations and the need for medical care are related to the employee’s work related coccygodynia.  Considering the failure of conservative treatment and prolonged time loss, Dr. Lipon indicated the surgical option should be considered.  However, in light of the employee’s diffuse pain complaints involving the sacrococcygeal area, the lower back and right hip and the pain behavior exhibited by the employee upon evaluation, Dr. Lipon recommended the employee undergo a psychiatric evaluation to determine, from a psychological standpoint, if he would be considered a reasonable candidate for surgery.
  Dr. Lipon indicated that the surgical procedure, coccygectomy, has a 50/50 success rate and a 40 to 60 percent success rate based upon the placebo effect.  Dr. Lipon acknowledged the employee is not the ideal surgical candidate and the less than optimal success rate statistics.  However, in considering the employee has failed all conservative treatment measures and his limited ability to work and engage in the activities of daily living, Dr. Lipon had no other treatment recommendations, except surgery.  To this end, Dr. Lipon opined reasonable and necessary care includes a psychiatric evaluation to determine if, from a psychological viewpoint, the employee will likely respond positively to a surgical approach.  If it is revealed that he would, Dr. Lipon recommends a coccygectomy be performed by a surgeon well experienced in the regional anatomy.

Dr. Lipon agreed with Dr. Schilperoort’s assessment that the edema fluid, which is consistent with a chronic bursitis, was resolved as of the May 24, 2004 MRI and that there was no further pericoccygeal swelling or fluid accumulation in the area.  However, he disagreed with 
Dr. Schilperoort’s opinion that it is only chronic bursitis that can cause coccygodynia.  Dr. Lipon indicated that intradiscal inflammation, local sprain and increased or decreased sacrococcygeal motion or subluxation of the coccyx are factors that can cause coccygodynia.

Dr. McCormack noted the employee leaned on one cheek or the other to avoid direct pressure on his coccyx when sitting.
  Dr. McCormack observed the employee in a squatting position in the middle of the room.  The employee shared with Dr. McCormack that this position gave him comfort.  Dr. McCormack observed a painful demeanor.  He found the employee’s lumbar range of motion markedly limited by pain.

Based upon the location of the employee’s pain, MRIs and bone scans, Dr. McCormack determined the employee has coccydynia with a resolved coccygeal bursitis.  He indicated the employee’s present condition is due to the work injury of July 24, 2002.  Dr. McCormack was uncertain if the employee had a pre-existing condition, noting the employee did not have pain in his coccyx prior to the work exposure and, regardless of the employee’s anatomy, prior the work injury the employee was asymptomatic.

Dr. McCormack recognized, as did Dr. Lipon, that there was radiographic evidence of acute bursitis that resolved, as per Dr. Schilperoort’s report.  However, Dr. McCormack acknowledged the employee’s pain still lingers.  He indicated this is not uncommon with spinal injuries, as there are many structures in the region that can serve as pain generators, aside from bursitis, including discs and ligaments.  Dr. McCormack recommended surgical removal of the coccyx.

With regard to the recommended psychological evaluation, Dr. McCormack stated as follows:

There is an adage in spine surgery that if you operate for pain, you will find pain.  In short pain mechanisms are not well understood and there may be centralization of pain pathways such that removal of the injured bone does not help.  A psychological evaluation prior to surgery seems prudent.

Despite this caveat, I think he should proceed with surgery. 

At the employer’s request, a psychiatric evaluation of the employee was conducted on July 19, 2006, by Eric Goranson, M.D., a psychiatrist.  The employer sought an opinion regarding whether the employee was an appropriate surgical candidate for a coccyx excision from a psychiatric standpoint.

Prior to viewing the surveillance videotapes, Dr. Goranson apparently had an opportunity to review the investigator’s report.  Dr. Goranson stated:

In addition I am struck by the inconsistency between Mr. Ward’s presentation to Drs. Schilperoort, McCormack, and Lipon and his appearance on the videotape.  I have not yet reviewed the surveillance but you will do so and will provide an addendum report regarding this.  Nevertheless, both Drs. McCormack were struck by the inconsistencies between Mr. Ward’s appearance on the surveillance tape versus his dramatic pain behavior while in their office for investigation.  (Mr. Ward’s attorney has attempted to counter this by stating that Mr. Ward is likely to try to present himself in the most unfavorable like for examinations.  Rather than “explaining away” the behavior, it supports the argument that Mr. Ward is actively involved in attempting to present himself as being severely disabled by pain.)

Dr. Goranson opined that reasonable diagnosis was between factitious disorder and malingering.  Factitious disorder is the conscious and fraudulent production of symptoms in order to maintain the patient role.  Dr. Goranson found that the employee had extensive and excessive treatment, including excessive treatment with narcotics over the years following his alleged injury.  
Dr. Goranson found it significant that there had never been a discrete injury, but merely an initial vague complaint of “perineal” and tailbone pain which blossomed into excessive medical treatment.  He noted:

Both Drs. McCormack and Lipon have stated that the questionable diagnosis of coccygodynia would be something that would be likely to have pain and discomfort initially with gradual resolution over time.  In fact the opposite has occurred.  Mr. Ward’s pain and disability have increased rather than decreased over time.  He has required increased contact with medical professionals including testing, procedures, addicting opiates and other CNS active medications, etc.  This is, (according to both doctors and also in my experience), contrary to the normal course of such a problem.  Taken together with Mr. Ward’s earlier history of stretching a knee injury into more than two years of disability, suggests an orientation towards entitlement certification and excuse from adult responsibilities.

Dr. Goranson described malingering as a diagnosis that is made when the following criteria are present:  a medicolegal context; subjective complaints out of proportion with objective findings; lack of cooperation; and the presence of an antisocial personality disorder.  Based upon the investigator’s report, Dr. Goranson found serious inconsistencies between the employee’s objective complaints and his behavior when he was not aware of being observed, lending credence to the diagnosis of either malingering or factitious disorder.

Dr. Goranson analogized his communication with the employee as follows, “Talking with Mr. Ward is at times like trying to solve a math problem with a cloud of mosquitoes buzzing around your head.”
  He found the employee’s claim that he wished to go back to work unbelievable “since he has a history of injuries resulting in at least one case of extended time off work.”
  
Dr. Goranson further commented that the employee currently lives an isolated lifestyle and that while that could be reflections of an individual who simply likes to be left alone and is uncomfortable with others, he found the employee gregarious and engaging.  Dr. Goranson suspected the employee’s isolated lifestyle was to prevent others from observing that he is functionally better than he is claiming.

Dr. Goranson expressed concern over the doses of narcotics prescribed for the employee.  It was his impression that both Dr. McCormack and Dr. Lipon avoided taking a position on the employee’s narcotic medication.  He found the doses to be excessive and suspected the employee is addicted and dependent upon narcotics.

Dr. Goranson opined that the employee showed no evidence of any psychiatric disorder whatsoever, including depression, anxiety, or evidence of disorder of thought.
  Despite this opinion, as the employee’s Axis I diagnosis, Dr. Goranson provided:  1. Rule out malingering (nonwork-related); and 2. Rule out factitious disorder (nonwork-related).  Dr. Goranson’s Axis II diagnosis of the employee was, “There is evidence of histrionic and antisocial personality traits which are exposed by such things as symptom magnification and manipulating the claims process.”
  Dr. Goranson noted his impressions and observations, which included: the employee is a smoker; he is an inconsistent and unreliable historian; he appears to have been less than honest in his reporting of symptoms and his dealings with the claims process; he has been taking massive amounts of narcotics without much benefit; and he appears to have manipulated the claims process.  Dr. Goranson opined that all of these point to an extremely poor outcome with respect to surgery and opined the employee is a poor surgical candidate from a psychiatric standpoint.
  

On July 19, 2006, Dr. Goranson amended his report after viewing five surveillance films taken of the employee from February 7 though 11, 2006.  He opined the most likely diagnosis is malingering.  Dr. Goranson found the many inconsistencies, pointed out in his reports, between the employee’s presentation to Dr. Goranson and others and the employee’s appearance, behavior and activities while he was unaware he was being filmed, quite striking.  In 
Dr. Goranson’s mind, the inconsistencies represent a conscious and fraudulent attempt on the employee’s part to present as disabled when he is not.  Dr. Goranson was puzzled at Dr. Lipon’s and Dr. McCormack’s reluctance to provide comment on the content of the videos.  It was obvious to Dr. Goranson that the employee has been presenting himself as being more disabled than he actually is.  Dr. Goranson found the employee’s physical appearance, which he described as “buff,” to be significant as the employee claimed to just sit around and read religious tracts.  Dr. Goranson found this yet another inconsistency and further documentation in favor of a diagnosis of malingering.  He indicated that his “diagnosis now includes a strong possibility of malingering” based upon his review of the surveillance films.

Dr. Schilperoort viewed the surveillance films and Dr. Goranson’s reports; he shared 
Dr. Goranson’s opinion.
  Further, Dr. Shilperoort opined that the employee’s general conduct, similar to that described by Dr. Goranson and on the surveillance films, is not that of a chronic pain condition with a true organic basis.

As of August 4, 2006, Dr. Schilperoort’s diagnosis was as follows:

1. Coccygeal bursitis, invoked as a consequence of the work exposure episode, resolved with no net permanent impairment of function.

2. Markedly exaggerated and disproportionate stated levels of pain to valid objective findings with disproportionate stated levels of pain to valid objective findings.

3. Excessive narcotic use, disproportionate to probable levels of pain which appear to be dispensed without adequate justification, or monitoring.  Conduct by surveillance not compatible with high dose narcotic use.

4. If narcotic use is as described, surveillance videos appear to depict significant amounts of operating motor vehicles which would constitute driving under the influence of intoxicants.

5. Strong case for malingering.

Dr. Schilperoort found the only diagnosis he gave the employee that was causally related to or aggravated by the industrial injury was coccygeal bursitis, resolved as of the May 25, 2004 MRI.  Dr. Schilperoort opined that any treatment subsequent to May 25, 2004 was not causally related to the employee’s work injury; that the employee had reached medical stability; that there is no permanent impairment of function based upon the work injury; and that the employee is capable of returning to full regular unlimited duty work without restriction.

At the employer’s request, Dr. Bursell reviewed Dr. Schilperoort’s reports and a film provided by the employer of the seat in the employer’s haul truck.  Dr. Bursell was unable to determine from Dr. Schilperoort’s reports the reason for his change in diagnosis and recommendation for treatment other than the fact that there was no evidence of paracoccygeal fluid collection on imaging studies.  Dr. Bursell indicated that after having treated the employee for quite some time, he never got the sense the employee was malingering or misusing pain medication.  Dr. Bursell found the employee always appeared to be very motivated to return to work.  Dr. Bursell, not being a surgeon, does not make surgical recommendations; however, considering the severity of the employee’s ongoing coccygeal pain symptoms, Dr. Bursell indicated he has always felt the employee should be considered for coccygectomy.

After having had an opportunity to review the surveillance films, Dr. McCormack found that, from a function standpoint, the employee was doing too well to be a candidate for surgery.  Dr. McCormack indicated there are a lot of uncertainties with surgery and the employee could end up worse.  Further, Dr. McCormack opined the employee was not a candidate for a morphine pump because his current dosages of narcotics were not high enough to warrant an invasive procedure and the employee was not experiencing somnolence or other serious side effects.  

Dr. McCormack found the employee to be medically stable as of February 27, 2006 and rated the employee’s permanent impairment as follows:

I would characterize his disability as DRE Lumbar Category 3:  10% impairment of the whole person.  This corresponds to a fracture of 25-50% of one vertebral body or posterior element fracture with displacement, disrupting the spinal canal.  In both cases, the fracture has healed without alteration of structural capacity.

In terms of the employee’s future care, Dr. McCormack recommended pain medication.  He opined that while the employee is taking the current dose of narcotics, it is unsafe for him to operate heavy machinery; however, he deferred that opinion to a pain specialist with more experience in chronic narcotic therapy.  Work restrictions Dr. McCormack imposed were no prolonged sitting greater than an hour without the opportunity to change position and a lifting restriction of 40 pounds.

II. Deposition and Hearing Testimony of Physicians
John Lipon, M.D.

The deposition of John Lipon, M.D., was taken on June 20, 2006.  Dr. Lipon is certified by the American Osteopathic Board of Orthopedic Surgeons and the American Board of Independent Medical Examiners.  He is also a Fellow in the American Academy of Disability Evaluating Physicians.  

Dr. Lipon testified that after reviewing the surveillance films, the opinions expressed in his report changed somewhat.  Specifically, his opinion regarding the employee’s ability to work and the level at which he is capable of working changed.  He testified that his opinion regarding the employee’s need for surgery had not changed.  

Dr. Lipon testified that there is a difference between what the employee shared regarding his symptoms and ability to function and what Dr. Lipon observed on the surveillance films.  For example, the employee reported to Dr. Lipon that when he walked uphill his condition was aggravated; however, Dr. Lipon observed the employee walk up a steep grade hill to Alcatraz.  
Dr. Lipon testified that based upon his personal experience, he knows the hill at Alcatraz takes considerable effort.  He testified he did not notice the employee having any problem, even though the employee was wearing a backpack.  It is Dr. Lipon’s belief that the employee’s ability to walk up a grade is not as great a problem as the employee told Dr. Lipon.  Dr. Lipon testified regarding several other discrepancies between the employee’s reports and the observations on surveillance films.  

Based upon the observations on the surveillance films, Dr. Lipon opined the employee can carry in excess of 25 pounds and is easily able to perform a medium category of lifting and carrying of up to 50 pounds on an occasional basis.  Dr. Lipon testified that what has changed from his review of the surveillance films is the employee’s capability for work with regard to sitting, standing, and job classification level.  

Dr. Lipon testified that in his review of the medical records, the first mention of pain in the employee’s coccygeal area was on July 7, 2003.  On that date, there is a mention of prostatitis, rectal pain.  Dr. Lipon testified that the first time tailbone pain was mentioned was in the Bartlett Hospital Emergency Room record of June 6, 2003.  

Dr. Lipon testified that he has treated approximately a dozen coccyx injuries and has taken one patient to surgery; although, it is a relatively rare condition.  He did not recall the surgical patient having any ongoing pain after surgery.

Dr. Lipon testified that coccygodynia means pain in and around the coccyx; that causes include things such as falls onto or a kick in the area.  Dr. Lipon testified that coccygodynia can be caused by repetitive trauma; where there is a lot of ongoing repetitive pressure and movement on the coccyx a person can develop coccygodynia.  He testified that in about a third of the cases coccygodynia will be symptomatic for no apparent reason.  This is referred to as an idiopathic situation.  

Dr. Lipon testified that the objective evidence in the employee’s case, which supports a determination of causation, includes the history in the records reviewed and the history from the employee.  He testified that bouncing on the seat of a haul truck for 75 to 85 percent of 10 to 13 hour days, four days per week is quite consistent with the causation of coccygodynia.  Dr. Lipon testified that in observing the employer’s haul truck operation on film, it was obvious that there was a lot of bouncing on the seat.  He testified that is how he came to his determination that the coccygodynia was either caused by that work activity or it was idiopathic and aggravated by the repetitive bouncing of the work activity.

Dr. Lipon refused to testify regarding the employee’s credibility.  He did, however, testify that the employee exhibited pain behavior during the exam, including severe pain when Dr. Lipon pressed on his sacrum and pain or tenderness throughout his lumbar region.  Dr. Lipon testified that the employee exhibited symptom magnification by squatting during the interview and telling Dr. Lipon of all his limitations, which were not consistent with what Dr. Lipon observed on the surveillance film.  Dr. Lipon testified that although he observed pain behavior, it was not flagrant.

Even after reviewing the additional information consisting of the surveillance films and the haul truck film, the deposition of Robert Weeden
 and his affidavit, the letter of Dr. Bursell, and the injection by Dr. Reynolds, Dr. Lipon testified that his diagnosis remains the same.  He testified that the employee had a coccygodynia, either caused or aggravated by his occupational duties.  
Dr. Lipon testified it was most likely idiopathic and aggravated by the employee’s occupational duties, but he could not say the employee’s coccygodynia was not caused by his occupational duties.

Dr. Lipon testified that the bursitis about the employee’s coccyx was a portion of the employee’s coccygodynia; and the swelling and fluid accumulation showed resolution in imaging studies of May 25, 2004.  Dr. Lipon testified that there are other structures that can cause coccygodynia.  He testified that the employee still had pain as of February 18, 2006, so as of that date, the employee’s coccygodynia was not resolved and would still be considered aggravated.  Given that length of time, Dr. Lipon testified the employee’s coccygodynia is a permanent aggravation.

Dr. Lipon testified that a coccygodynia does not have to have a fluid accumulation or a hot bone scan or a fracture to be painful; and oftentimes it does not have any of those things.  Dr. Lipon testified that it is the physical examination, pain in and about the coccyx with the rectal examination and direct pressure, and the patient’s localized pain, that leads to the diagnosis.

Dr. Lipon testified that the employee should have a psychiatric evaluation to determine if he is a reasonable candidate for the surgery; he should decrease or eliminate his pain relief medications and after that, surgery can be done.  He anticipated that six months to a year after surgery, a PPI rating can be conducted.  He testified that if the employee elected not to proceed with surgery, or if the psychiatrist determined the employee was not a surgical candidate, then the employee would be considered medically stable.

Dr. Lipon testified that when he conducts evaluations, he prefers that the individuals be off their pain medications so that he can see them at their worst so that he has an idea of their condition.

Dr. Lipon testified that he generally recognizes malingering or fraudulent behavior by claimants, but that he did not see malingering in the employee’s case.  He testified that one of the possibilities of the employee’s pain behavior and exaggerated statements was that the employee was attempting to express how impaired he is by the coccygodynia.  Further, he testified that the employee’s behavior and statements may be a result of a different level of pain medication.

Dr. Lipon recommends that if the employee does not go through with surgery, an independent examination be conducted by a pain management specialist to determine if pain management is an option.

Dr. Lipon testified that coccygodynia usually resolves in eight or nine months and, after that time frame, it becomes chronic.  He testified that the employee is chronic, but that does not mean if the coccygodynia resolves on its own that the employee could go back to his job at the time of injury.  He testified that the employee did not appear to be at that point on February 18, 2006.

Bruce McCormack, M.D.

The deposition of Bruce McCormack, M.D., was taken on June 19, 2006.  He is a neurosurgeon, did two spinal fellowships and was director of the spine surgery service at UCSF.  He conducted a SIME of the employee on February 27, 2006.

Dr. McCormack testified that based upon spending an hour or two going through the surveillance films, he did not think he should recommend surgery for the employee because the employee looked too functional.  He added that given the uncertainties of resecting the coccyx, he did not think surgery was warranted.  He testified that if the employee is as functional as observed on the surveillance films while on narcotics, narcotics are more appropriate than surgery, considering all the uncertainties.

Dr. McCormack testified he found the surveillance films compelling and because the employee appeared to be relatively functional, he had a hard time recommending surgery.  Aware of the fact that the surveillance films were taken the day before, the day of, and the day after Dr. McCormack’s evaluation of the employee, Dr. McCormack testified there was a difference between what he saw on the surveillance films and his observations of the employee during the examination; the employee presented himself differently in the office than on the films.  Dr. McCormack focused on the employee’s capacity to sit, both the length of time and in a balanced position.  Therefore, in reviewing the surveillance films, Dr. McCormack testified that of the five disks of February 7th through the 11th, he viewed four and intermittently fast forwarded to view the employee’s capacity to sit.  He testified that when he viewed the employee sitting down for dinner, the employee appeared relatively comfortable for a period of about a half hour; and when he viewed the employee sitting in the airport the employee appeared fidgety.  Dr. McCormack testified that the employee did not appear to be in pain, but could have been taking narcotics.  Dr. McCormack testified he did not know.

Dr. McCormick testified that on the morning he examined the employee, the employee reported he had not taken any medications and that narcotics helped mask his symptoms.  Despite the employee’s dosages of narcotics, Dr. McCormack testified he still would not recommend surgery.  If the employee could walk, travel, carry a backpack and sit down and have a meal, Dr. McCormack testified he was not sure the employee would do much better with the surgery and he could fare worse.

Dr. McCormack testified that less than one percent of back complaints represent coccyx injuries and they occur primarily from a fall onto the buttocks and that some are idiopathic.  Dr. McCormack testified that in his practice, he does not treat coccyx injuries very often; most of the treatment he has provided for coccygeal problems is for tumors.  He testified that the condition is relatively rare and surgical indications are few.  

Dr. McCormack testified that the employee has pain that is somewhat disproportionate to the radiographic findings, but there is significant angulation and deformity of the coccyx.  He testified that pain could have initially started from inflammation in the area and then become ingrained in the nervous system, making it neuropathic.  He testified that the angulation and deformity itself is something that can be asymptomatic.  Dr. McCormack testified that an objective indication of the employee’s pain was on the MRI showing edema and that the edema was gone by the second MRI.  He testified that the employee’s bouncing around while operating heavy equipment was a reasonable mechanism of injury for inciting inflammation in the coccyx area.  Dr. McCormack testified that he has seen coccygeal fractures from falls; and that repetitive bouncing could cause chronic problems in the area.  Dr. McCormack testified that the employee’s mechanism of injury is industrially related.

Dr. McCormack testified that for individuals in chronic pain, as the employee, it is not uncharacteristic for them to receive and take many prescriptions for medications.  He testified that chronic use of narcotics is one way to treat pain and many pain patients are treated this way for years.

Dr. McCormack testified that although he has issues with the employee operating an automobile while taking the narcotics, he has also seen patients on similar and higher doses drive vehicles without impairment because they have been taking the medications for so long.  

Dr. McCormack testified that the doses of narcotics the employee currently takes interfere with the employee’s ability to operate the kind of equipment used in a mining operation.  As a result of the narcotics, he testified that he would impose a limitation on the employee prohibiting the employee from operating heavy machinery.  Dr. McCormack testified that even with good surgical results, he was not certain the narcotics could be eliminated to allow the employee to return to his job.  Other side effects that can be expected from taking the narcotics, according to Dr. McCormack, include cognitive deficits and memory lapses.

George Garfein, M.D.

George Garfein, M.D., has an office based practice and takes care of routine office medicine for the young to the old.
  The employee presented to Dr. Garfein on October 13, 2005, with several problems.  

Dr. Garfein testified that it was his opinion the employee was in need of treatment for his coccyx and the problem was not going to get better without surgical correction.  He testified he based his opinion upon evaluations conducted by numerous physicians and the fact that injections into the employee’s coccyx and the associated joints gave pain relief which was encouraging to the physicians that the coccyx was the source of the employee’s pain.

Dr. Garfein has been a practicing physician for 30 years.  He was unaware of Dr. Schilperoort’s opinion that the employee was fully recovered from his coccyx problems and was malingering.  
Dr. Garfein testified he has seen no evidence that the employee was malingering.  Dr. Garfein testified that based upon his personal interaction with the employee and the information he has, he does not find multiple episodes or incidents of the employee claiming abnormal pain from minimal injuries, or a substantial secondary gain either financially or socially from the employee’s injury, which are required to find the employee a malingerer.  Dr. Garfein testified that he has prescribed narcotics under the assumption and belief that the employee’s pain is real.  Dr. Garfein testified that the employee is “seeking” narcotics in order to deal with pain.  He testified that he thinks the employee is using narcotics in an appropriate way; that the does not think the employee is seeking narcotics; he thinks the employee is seeking pain relief.

Dr. Garfein testified that due to the oddity of the type of coccyx pain the employee experiences, he is very reasonably sure the employee needed to have surgery as recommended by Dr. Schilperoort in 2004, and still does.  Based upon the evidence Dr. Garfein had from his own examinations of the employee and from the documentation he reviewed from other physicians, he testified surgery will be beneficial to the employee and perhaps curative.  

Dr. Garfein testified that surgery is the preferable alternative to medication to enable the employee to function.  Dr. Garfein testified that the employee’s current level of functioning is very poor.  Dr. Garfein testified that to cure the employee’s problem with surgery rather than have him remain a chronic narcotic user, will allow the employee to return to a worthwhile life.  Dr. Garfein testified he was unaware of any type of work the employee could perform while on the high doses of narcotics currently prescribed, nor did he know any employer that would hire the employee.  
Dr. Garfein testified that to some extent the employee’s pain is covered up by the narcotics, but the pain is still there and the irritation from his inflamed misplaced coccyx is still there.  

Dr. Garfein testified that some people, when they get adjusted to narcotic doses, mentally can function relatively well; when an individual is on a steady dose of narcotics, the brain adjusts so that individuals can drive and function cognitively.

Dr. Garfein testified that if the employee had been tended to properly, he might have had resolution of his problem sooner.  He testified that it is quite reasonable to expect the surgery will benefit the employee.  He testified that when these types of injuries are left to heal by themselves and they do not heal, that sometimes they never heal, even with surgery.  He testified this is common with back injuries.  He testified that a coccyx excision is one of the most unusual operations performed nowadays, but that the employee will benefit from having the surgery.

Dr. Garfein testified that he has seen and observed the employee approximately six or eight times and has examined the employee in some degree of depth two or three times.  He testified he disagrees with Dr. Schilperoort’s opinion that the employee is a malingerer and has not observed the employee consciously exaggerating his pain complaints.  He testified that the employee’s use of narcotics is consistent with use to control chronic pain.

Dr. Garfein testified that, in his opinion, two and a half years ago, when Dr. Schilperoort recommended surgery, that was the right approach and with the passage of time he is less certain.

Steven Schilperoort, M.D.

Steven Schilperoort, M.D., testified at hearing.  Dr. Schilperoort is a board certified orthopedic surgeon.  His practice consists solely of performing independent medical evaluations.  He has not actively practiced patient care since 1998 for health reasons.  

Dr. Schilperoort testified that he has limited experience with coccyx injuries; that of eight that he has seen, all were while he was in residency and only one while in practice.  He testified that excisions are rarer than injuries.

Dr. Schilperoort testified that coccyx injuries are caused from a direct blow, which is a very forceful mechanism of injury; from childbirth; or they are idiopathic, which means it happens because it happens.

Dr. Schilperoort testified that the employee never fractured his coccyx.  He based his opinion upon a bone scan and laminography.

Dr. Schilperoort testified the employee had a tendency to stand canted forward, which is a condition called camptocormia, and indicates an excessive psychological reaction to pain.  Dr. Schilperoort testified it is a legitimate stance for someone with ulcers, but not for an individual, such as the employee, with musculoskeletal pain.  

Dr. Schilperoort testified that he conducted a rectal examination of the employee on February 13, 2004 which elicited an exaggerated pain response.  When he palpated the employee’s coccyx, he testified he could not move it; it was rigid and there was no flex.  He testified that a rigid coccyx is more prone to getting dinged and injured.  He testified that this finding, in conjunction with the September 18, 2003 MRI findings showing edema, lead to the diagnosis of coccygeal bursitis, despite his finding that the employee had a disproportionate level of pain with no organic findings.  He testified that the MRI taken on May 25, 2004 showed the edema was resolved.  At that point, he testified, there was not objective evidence of injury.

Dr. Schilperoort testified that because there is no objective evidence of pathology or problem and no method to reasonably explain the employee’s pain, this pattern is representative of malingering.  

Dr. Schilperoort testified that theoretically, residual pain in the coccyx can occur after bursitis has resolved.  He explained that the synovium tissue secretes lubricating fluid that acts as a cushion pad; when the coccyx is sore, the fluid changes, it becomes sticky and can form scar adhesion bands; physical therapy can break this up, oral anti-inflammatory medications and injections can lead to resolution.  He testified that the theoretical basis for physical pain after resolution of the bursitis does not apply in the employee’s case.  He testified that the typical person who presents with coccygeal pain is a single white female, after intercourse.  He testified that physicians are reluctant to perform surgery because, historically, coccygeal pain is associated with a psychological issue.

Dr. Schilperoort concluded that the employee is malingering because there has been no change in the employee’s level of pain after resolution of the edema in May of 2004 and there is an excessive use of narcotics.  He testified that the surveillance films were of an individual who was not in pain.  Dr. Schilperoort testified that there is no reasonable objective diagnosis and the employee’s statements of pain are not supported by the objective findings.

Dr. Schilperoort testified that at the time of his August 2004 evaluation of the employee, he suspected malingering; however, he recommended surgery without a psychiatric evaluation because he found the employee’s coccyx rigid.  He testified that Dr. Chapman’s examination of the employee proved the coccyx was not rigid; therefore, Dr. Schilperoort had proof the employee did not need surgery.  Further, in reviewing the surveillance films, Dr. Schilperoort did not observe the employee exhibiting pain.  Dr. Schilperoort testified he believed there was sufficient evidence in the record in August 2004 to determine the employee was malingering.

Dr. Schilperoort testified that neurogenic pain is pain originating in the nerves.  He testified that, in the employee’s case, there’s nothing in the medical record to prove the employee has neurogenic pain.  Further, he testified that the mechanism of injury does not support a neuropathic basis and any physician who concludes so does not have objective evidence to support the finding.  
III. Relevant Procedural History
Hearing in this matter was scheduled at a pre-hearing conference held on April 18, 2006.  At that time, the parties were notified of the hearing deadlines; including witness lists were due by July 14, 2006 and briefs were due by August 8, 2006.

The employee filed his witness list on July 14, 2006 and included Dr. Goranson, acknowledging he would appear either in person, through deposition testimony or written medical opinion regarding the employee’s work related injury.
  The employer also filed its witness list on July 14, 2006 and included Dr. Goranson.  The employer notified the Board that Dr. Goranson would be performing a psychiatric evaluation of the employee on July 19, 2006 and would testify by telephone or deposition regarding the appropriateness of the employee undergoing coccyx excision.

On August 9, 2006, the employer filed its petition to leave the record open to include the August 17, 2006 deposition testimony of Dr. Goranson.  The petition asserts Dr. Goranson was unable to attend the hearing scheduled for August 17, 2006.
  After the depositions of the SIME physicians, and in consultation with Dr. Schilperoort regarding the status of the medical evidence in the instant matter, the employer decided it was necessary to obtain the opinion of a psychiatrist regarding whether the employee is an appropriate candidate for coccyx excision.  The employer received Dr. Goranson’s reports on August 7, 2006 and served them on the employee and filed them with Board on that same day.  On August 9, 2006, the employer learned that the earliest date Dr. Goranson was available to provide deposition testimony was August 17, 2006.  

IV. Parties’ Arguments
The employee argues that it is unreasonable to leave the record open because the employer did not provide Dr. Goranson’s reports until after the close of the witness list deadline and briefing deadline.  The employee argues that Dr. Goranson’s deposition testimony will merely be cumulative and burdensome, considering the 50 hours of cumulative and prejudicial surveillance films.

The employer, in countering the employee’s arguments, pointed out that the employee has had numerous late filings such as the Notice of Intent mailed on July 26, 2006; the 51 page filing of August 14, 2006, containing the employee’s revised timeline and employee’s petition, Jo Beth Millar’s affidavit and employee’s memorandum in opposition to petition to leave open record.  The employer argued it is appropriate to leave the record open for submission of Dr. Goranson’s deposition testimony because he is unable to testify at hearing and was unavailable to attend a deposition until August 17, 2006.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
Alaska Supreme Court decisions highlight the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act’s (“Act”) obligation to provide a simple and inexpensive remedy with speedy
 and informal procedures.
  To meet this end, under AS 23.30.135(a), the Board may make its investigation or inquiry, or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties.

AS 23.30.135(a) provides, in part:

In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided in this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . .

At hearing on August 15, 2006, the Board took under advisement the parties’ arguments regarding the employer’s request to keep the record open to accept the deposition of Dr. Goranson.  Despite late completed discovery on the part of all parties, the hearing went forward on August 15, 2006.  To determine if it is necessary to keep the record open and accept Dr. Goranson’s deposition, the Board considers the rights of both parties and our needs to best ascertain those rights.  

Due to scheduling and time constraints, the employer was unable to take Dr. Goranson’s deposition prior to the August 15, 2006 hearing.  The Board has reviewed the report of Dr. Goranson’s psychiatric evaluation of the employee.  We find Dr. Goranson focused on many aspects of the instant matter unrelated to the employee’s suitability for surgery from a psychiatric standpoint.  Specifically, we find Dr. Goranson came to conclusions based upon factual assumptions that are not supported by the record.  We find it is Dr. Goranson’s opinion that the appropriate diagnosis for the employee is either malingering or factitious disorder.  The Board finds that in Dr. Goranson’s attempts to support his diagnosis of malingering, he did not explain why the factors he considered would make the employee an extremely poor surgical candidate.  The Board finds Dr. Goranson based his opinion on his findings that the employee is a smoker; he is an inconsistent and unreliable historian; he appears to have been less than honest in his reporting of symptoms and his dealings with the claims process; he has been taking massive amounts of narcotics without much benefit; and that the employee has manipulated the claims process.  The Board finds 
Dr. Goranson fails to provide justification for the relevance of these factors in a determination regarding the employee’s likely outcome with respect to surgical intervention. 

In this matter, one issue before the Board is medical benefits.  At hearing, the parties focused, in large part, on whether the surgical procedure of coccyx excision was reasonable and necessary.  The Board, placing great weight on the opinion of Dr. Lipon, finds that a psychiatric evaluation of the employee is prudent prior to determining if the employee is a candidate for the surgical procedure.  

The Board will accept the deposition of Dr. Goranson taken on August 17, 2006.  The Board finds Dr. Goranson was listed on both the employee’s and employer’s witness list and was unavailable on the hearing date.  Considering the questions left unanswered by Dr. Goranson’s report, the only psychiatric evaluation in the record, under AS 23.30.135(a), the Board shall leave the record open to receive the transcript of Dr. Goranson’s deposition taken on August 17, 2006.

AS 23.30.155(h) provides, in part:

The board may upon its own initiative at any time in a case in which payments are being made with or without an award, where right to compensation is controverted, or where payments of compensation have been increased, reduced, terminated, changed, or suspended, upon receipt of notice from a person entitled to compensation, or from the employer, that the right to compensation is controverted, or that payments of compensation have been increased, reduced, terminated, changed, or suspended, make the investigations, cause the medical examinations to be made, or hold the hearings, and take the further action which it considers will properly protect the rights of all parties.

AS 23.30.095(k) provides, in part:


In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation . . . or compensability between the employee's attending physician and the employer's independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board.  The cost of an examination and medical report shall be paid by the employer.  The report of an independent medical examiner shall be furnished to the board and to the parties within 14 days after the examination is concluded.

AS 23.30.110(g) provides, in part:

An injured employee claiming or entitled to compensation shall submit to the physical examination by a duly qualified physician, which the board may require. . .    

In order to properly protect the rights of all parties, pursuant to AS 23.30.155(h), the Board finds it necessary to conduct further investigation.

Under our regulation, 8 AAC 45.090(b), we can order the employer to pay for examinations of the employee under AS 23.30.095(k) or AS 23.30.110(g).  We have long considered subsection 
AS 23.30.095(k) to be procedural in nature, not substantive.
 We also find subsection 
AS 23.30.110(g) procedural in nature, not substantive, for the reasons outlined in Harvey v. Cook Inlet Pipe Line Co.
  Considering the broad procedural discretion granted to us in AS 23.30.135(a), we conclude we have wide discretion under AS 23.30.110(g) to consider any evidence available when deciding whether to order a second independent medical examination to assist us investigating and deciding medical issues in contested claims.

We find the issues in this case are medically complex.  We find that the Dr. Lipon, the physician with the greatest experience in treating coccygodynia, has recommended a psychiatric evaluation to determine the employee’s suitability for surgery from a psychiatric perspective.  Further, we find the only psychiatric evaluation conducted in this matter does not consider many aspects of the record which the Board finds relevant and compelling.  For example, the Board finds compelling that 
Drs. Lipon, McCormack and Garfein all opine that for an individual with chronic pain, such as the employee, chronic narcotic use is consistent with pain relief; and that when the pain is controlled, it can be expected that the individual’s functionality will be improved.  The Board finds Dr. Goranson failed to consider these factors in diagnosing the employee with malingering.  

We find that a psychiatric evaluation of the employee to determine from a psychological standpoint if he is a reasonable candidate for surgery, considering all evidence in the record, is necessary to determining the rights of the parties.  Consequently, we will order an examination concerning this issue under AS 23.30.110(g).  

Further, we find a significant dispute between the various physicians concerning Dr. Goranson’s diagnosis of malingering.  We find that in order to ascertain the rights of the parties, resolution of this disputed issue is necessary.  Therefore, under AS 23.30.095(k) and AS 23.30.110(g), we will order the SIME evaluation, by a psychiatrist, to also address if the employee was properly diagnosed with malingering.

An SIME must be performed by a physician on our list, unless we find our list does not include an impartial physician with the specialized training, qualifications, or experience needed.
  Based on our review of the employee’s file and the arguments of the parties, we find a physician trained in psychiatry will be suited to perform this examination of the employee, evaluation of the medical records and review of the surveillance films.  We find our SIME physician list contains a psychiatrist, Peter P. Roy-Byrne, M.D.  We take administrative notice that Dr. Roy-Byrne practices in Seattle, reasonably near the employee.  According to our records, the employee has not been treated by Dr. Roy-Byrne. We therefore choose Dr. Roy-Byrne, pending his acceptance, to perform the SIME, provided no conflicts are discovered. We will order our board designee, Workers' Compensation Officer Bruce Dalrymple, to arrange the SIME with Dr. Roy-Byrne and the parties, in accord with 8 AAC 45.092(h).  If Dr. Roy-Byrne is unable to perform the examination, we direct Mr. Dalrymple to select an SIME physician in accord with 8 AAC 45.092(f).  We will retain jurisdiction over this matter pending receipt of the SIME report.  


ORDER

1.  An SIME shall be conducted by Dr. Roy-Byrne regarding two issues:  the employee’s suitability for surgery from a psychological standpoint and the diagnosis of malingering.

2.  The parties shall schedule a pre-hearing conference with Workers’ Compensation Officer Bruce Dalrymple and proceed under 8 AAC 45.092(h) as follows:


A.  All filings regarding the SIME shall be directed to Workers' Compensation Officer Bruce Dalrymple's attention.  Each party may submit up to three questions for each issue by the date provided by Mr. Dalrymple at the pre-hearing conference.  These questions may be used in the letter to the SIME physician.  The questions should relate to the issues currently listed in number one above.


If subsequent medical disputes arise prior to our contact with the SIME physician, the parties may request we address the additional issues.  However, the parties must agree on these additional issues.  The parties must list the additional medical dispute and specify the supporting medical opinion (including report date, page, and author).  The parties must file the supporting medical reports, regardless of previous reports in the record.  We will then consider whether to include these issues. 


B.  The employer shall prepare two copies of all medical records in its possession, including physicians' depositions, put the copies in chronological order by date of treatment, with the oldest records on top, number the pages consecutively, put the copies in two binders, and serve the binders upon the employee with an affidavit verifying the binders contain copies of all the medical records in the employer's possession regarding the employee.  This must be done by the date scheduled by Mr. Dalrymple at the pre-hearing conference.


C.  The employee shall review the binders.  If the binders are complete, the employee shall file the binders with us within approximately 10 days of receipt, together with an affidavit stating the binders contain copies of all the medical records in the employee's possession.  If the binders are incomplete, the employee shall prepare three copies of the medical records, including physicians' depositions, missing from the first set of binders.  The employee shall place each set of copies in a separate binder as described above.  The employee shall file two of the supplemental binders with us, the two sets of binders prepared by the employer, and an affidavit verifying the completeness of the medical records.  The employee shall serve the third supplemental binder upon the employer, together with an affidavit stating it is identical to the binders filed with us. The employee shall serve the employer and file the binders within 10 days of receipt of the binders.


D.  If either party receives additional medical records or doctors' depositions after the binders have been prepared and filed with us, the party shall prepare three supplemental binders as described above with copies of the additional records and depositions. The party must file two of the supplemental binders with us within seven days after receiving the records or depositions. The party must serve one supplemental binder on the opposing party, together with an affidavit stating it is identical to the binders filed with us, within seven days after receipt.


E.  Other than the employee’s conversation with the SIME physician or the physician’s office about the examination, neither party shall contact the SIME physician, the physician’s office, or give the SIME physician anything else, until the SIME physician has submitted the SIME report to us.


F.  If the employee finds it necessary to cancel or change the SIME appointment date or time, the employee shall immediately contact Workers' Compensation Officer Bruce Dalrymple and the physician’s office.

3.  The Board shall retain jurisdiction over this matter and schedule additional closing arguments upon receipt of Dr. Roy-Byrne’s SIME Report.

Dated at Juneau, Alaska on  September 5, 2006.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.160 and 8 AAC 45.050.
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I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Interlocutory Decision and Order in the matter of THOMAS D. WARD employee / applicant; v. KENNECOTT GREENS CREEK MINING CO., employer; ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE CO., insurer / defendants; Case No. 200226119; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Juneau, Alaska, on September 5, 2006.
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� 11/21/03 Report of Occupational Injury or Illness.


� 6/6/03 Barlett Hospital Emergency Room, referral to Urologist Michael Singsass, M.D.  The employee saw Kim Smith, M.D., as his family physician.  7/7/03 Physician’s Assistant DePute and Dr. Singsass.  9/2/03 Dr. Bursell.  10/8/03 Mark Merrell, M.D.  10/15/03 Ted Schwarting, M.D.  2/17/04 Jens Chapman, M.D.  6/14/04 William M. Palmer, M.D. letter to Dr. Smith


� Magnetic Resonance Image.


� 9/2/03, 9/11/03, 9/22/03, 10/14/03, 10/16/03 10/20/03, 10/5/03, 11/10/03, 12/1/03, 12/12/03, 12/29/03, 1/14/04, Chart Notes, Dr. Bursell.


� 10/15/03 Evaluation Report, Dr. Schwarting.


� 6/14/04 Letter to Dr. Smith from Dr. Palmer.


� 2/13/04 EME Report, Dr. Schilperoort at 9.


� 2/17/04 Bone and Joint – Outpt Record, Virginia Hall Arvold, PA and Dr. Chapman.


� 2/26/04 Chart Note, Dr. Bursell.


� 3/25/04, 4/9/04, 5/16/04, 6/23/04, 7/21/04, 8/11/04, 9/8/04, 10/6/04 (Assessment changed from coccydynia to Somatic dysfunction of sacrococcygeal region), 11/10/04 (Assessment returns to coccydynia), 11/24/4, 12/13/04 (EE having difficulty with pain control using Oxycontin), 12/21/04 (EE transitioned to methadone from Oxycontin), 2/23/05 (EE requires additional break through pain medication), 3/23/05 (Dr. Bursell recommends the University of Washington chronic pain clinic). 


� 8/4/04 EME Addendum Report, Dr. Schilperoort at 1.


� Id., at 2.


� Id., at 3.


� Id.


� 11/8/05 Chart Note, Dr. Henderson.


� 11/15/05 Letter to Dr. Milton Routt from Dr. Henderson.


� 2/18/06 SIME Report, Dr. Lipon at 36.


� Id. at 39.


� Id., at 38.


� Id., at 39.


� Id., at 40.


� Id., at 42.


� Id., at 43 and 44.


� Id, at 43.


� 2/27/06 SIME Report, Dr. McCormack at 5. 


� Id., at 6.


� Id., at 27.


� Id., at 28.


� Id., at 29.


� 7/19/06 EME Report, Dr. Goranson at 11-12.


� Id., at 12.


� Id.


� Id. at 13.


� Id.


� Id.,13.


� Id.


� Id., at 10.


� Id., 14. 


� Id., at 10 and 14.


� 7/19/06 Addendum to EME Report, Dr. Goranson.


� 8/4/06 Addendum to EME Reports, Dr. Shilperoort at 1.


� Id., at 2.


� Id.


� Id., at 3-4.


� Undated letter to Paul M. Hoffman from Dr. Bursell, with date stamp of 3/23/06.


� 6/26/06 Memorandum Re: Thomas David Ward, Dr. McCormack.


� Id.


� 1/13/06 Deposition of Robert Weeden.  Mr. Weeden is a Senior Project Engineer with Kennecott Greens Creek Mine.


� 6/19/06 Deposition of Dr. McCormack at 5.


� 7/25/06 Deposition of Dr. Garfein at 5.


� 7/14/06 Employee’s Witness List.


� 7/13/06 Employer’s Witness List.


� 8/9/06 Employer’s Petition to Leave Record Open.


� See Hewing v. Peter Kiewit & Sons, 586 P.2d 182 (Alaska 1978).


� AS 23.30.135(a).


� Deal v. Municipality of Anchorage, AWCB Decision No. 97-0165 at 3 (July 23, 1997).


� AWCB Decision No. 98-0076 (March 26, 1998).


� 8 AAC 45.092(f).
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